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DESCRIPTION
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
St. Sophia Home of the Little Sisters of the Poor, also’'known as Little Sisters of

the Poor Home for the Aged, is located at 16 North Harvie Street in Richmond. The
original structure consisted of a brick residence built in 1832 and incorporated into an
Italianate brick hospital between 1877 and 188l. Successive modifications oceurred with
the addition of a convent wing to the south in 1894 and a service wing to the north in
the 1950s. The 3%-story brick structure is built on a brick basement and is covered by
a mansard roof.

The east elevation is executed in stretcher-bond pressed brick with the secondary
walls constructed in seven-course, American-bond brick., The brick is corbeled at the
third story and raised brick pilasters define the main entrance bay. The maiun entrance
is located on the east elevation of the 1877-81 building. It is believed to mark the
main entrance for Warsaw, the 1832 residence in which the institution bad its beginnings.
The present entrance, installed ca. 1960, consists of a transom-light, metal-frame entry-
way with single-paned glass doors and is sheltered by a metal canopy. Secondary
entrances are found on both the east and west elevations. These entrances consist of
segmental-arched transoms that top plain wooden doors within simply executed architraves.
The entrance on the south wing retains its original wocd pedimented canopy embellished by
a lacy cast-iron frieze and supported on iron posts. A countemporary cast-iron railing
in an elaborate pattern ornaments the steps. While the cast-iron railing on the main
entrance was replaced with a simple metal example, original railings survive on its
flanking entrances and also on the rear (west) entrance. The rear entrance is sheltered
by a second-floor balcony that also encompasses an iron fire escape. A cast-iron balcony
covered by a shed roof was originally found on the east elevation of the south wing, but
it was removed in the present century.

The mansard roof was added ca. 1894 to create a fourth floor. It replaces an earlier
low-hipped roof on the 1877-81 section. ' The roof is covered by slate shingles and is
broken by doxmers that contain 6/6 hung sash. A dentil and bracket cornice runs the
perimeter of the eaves course.  This trecatment is also found on a pediment over the main
entrance. A cross surmounts the pediment. TFenestration consists of segmental-arched
6/6 hung-sash windows in simple wooden architraves. ' {

The 1877-81 hospital plan was originally "U'-shaped and consisted of the present
five-bay entrance section with adjoining pavilions to the north and south. It is
believed that the entrance scction followed the plan of Warsaw , recently found to be
encased within the entrance hall, The plan became "E'-shaped when the convent wing was
added in 1894. The wing added an extra bay to the two-bay hospital pavilion, making the
central pavilion three bays. This later wing has a completely independent circulation
system. The last major addition was a lounge and community service area added to the
Flovd Avenue elevation in the 1950s. This late addition is to be removed in a Forth-
coming renovation.

Connecting the wings is aﬁ ésymmftricaLLy positioned hall that runs from morth to
south. The doorways in the corridor are defined by curvilinear-arched transoms vaguely
Moorish in inspiration. Off the corridor run three lateral stair halls that contain
open-well stairs. ‘he stairs in the oldest section have turned walput rnewels, while
the stair in the 1894 wing has a square newel. ALl the stairs have molded handrails

(See continuation Sheet #1)
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;TATEM ENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The former hospital of St. Sophia, Home of the Little Sisters of the Poor, is a
prodigious and rare example for Richmond of late Victorian iunstitutional architecture.
It is also an important element in the fabric of Richmond's Fan District, a popular
late 19th-century urban residential neighborhood. Adding interest to the building is
the fact that incorporated within its walls is Warsaw, a brick farmhouse built in 1832
as the residence of William Anderson, whose farm now forms a large portion of the
surrounding neighborhood. Anderson's spacious residence was acquired in 1877 by the
Catholic mendicant order of nung, the Little Sisters, and converted into a charitable

hospital. The building was greatly enlarged in the Italianate style between 1877-1881 and;

further enlarged in the Second Empire Style in 1896, all making it an interesting
evolutionary structure. The Little Sisters removed to a modern complex after ninety-nine
years of service in the ¥Fan District. The hospital is now under new ownership and is
ayaiting conversion into luxury apartments,

Building in Richmond in the vears following the (Civil War was extensive but tended
to be primarily commercial and residential.the commercial building was concentrated in
the area downtown destroyed during the evacuation fire. Residential construction was
most extensive in the Jackson Ward and the new neighborhoods spreading from downtown to
the west, There was practically no new governmental architecture until the new city
hall was begun in 1887. Institutional building in the 1870s was confined almost
exclusively to the new Richmond College complex and the hospital for the Little Sisters
of the Poor. The college complex was destroyed by fire in the early 20th century,
leaving the hospital as the city's major institutional structure of the period.

The 1870s was a period of great expansion for the Roman Catholic Church in Richmond.
During Reconstruction it developed the St. Joseph's Home and the Monte Maria Couvent on
Church Hill and acquired a new site for a cathedral to replace St. Peter's, the original
cathedral of the Diocese of Richmond. 1In 1876 Bishop James Gibbons purchased Warsaw
and four lots which he gave to the Little Sisters of the Poor.

The Little Sisters is an international Roman Catholic order of nuns which maintains
a mother house near Rennes, France. The sisters take the vow of poverty and support
themselves through begging, church donations, and church auxiliaries. The patients or
"guests'" at the home are chosen without regard to religion, nationality or race. The
sisters offer physical and occupational therapy and recreation. The founder of the
order expressed the relipgious significance of their work: "Remember that the poor are
Jesus Christ".

(8ee Continuation Sheet #2)
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4. OWNER OF PROPERTY

Harvie Street Limited Partnership:

George R. Hinnant

Sam T. Beale

Dr. Merritt W. Foster, Jr.
Estate of R. Finley Gayle, 111

7. DESCRIEEION
and turned balusters.

The howe was vacated by the Little Sisters in 1976,and at that time, the kitchen
was located in the basement along with a separate room for dishwashing. The first floor
b+d been used for lounges, offices, patient rooms, and miscellaneous storage. The
‘remaining floers contained patient and community rooms. Most of the interior finishes
had been recently updated and included resilient tile flooring, suspended acoustical
tile ceilings, and a modern elevator installed in the main corridor of the 1877-81 sec-
tion,

On axis with the main hall and presvumably constructed before the 1894 convent wing
ic a chapel. The Italianate-style chapel is eruciform in plan with a three-sided apse
projecting to the west. The two-story space is surmounted by a four-sided cupola.
Stained-glass windows added within the last twenty years provide a natural source of
light. At the same time, the chapel was exteusively renovated and the oviginal pews
removed. A tile fleoor was installed along with wooden pancling and new lighting. An
iron railing was provided on a secoud-floor mezzanine, '

In addition to the hospital, convent, and chapel, several outbuildings exist to the ¥
rear (west) of the main complex.They all appear to. date from the late 19th century.A two-} i
story byick building, seven bays by two bays, is found immediately to the west of the '
main structure. At the time the complex functioned as a hospital, this edifice
contained a community room, barber shop, and foot bath on the first floor and a guest
suite on the second floor. Further to the west is a two-story brick and wood stable
consisting of a main pavilion flanked by two smaller wings. lxecuted in seven-course
tmerican bond, the building weasures 115" x 23' and last served as a garage and storage
area, . S

(See continuation shect #2)
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/. DESCRIPTGON =
A plain 20th-century gazebo, 18' x 18', is located to the south of the hospital. ;-
Surreunding grounds are well landscaped and contain a variety of large trees and shrubs.
About the time the conveut wing was added, the streets in the area were lowered for the E

development of the Fan District. A seven-course-American-bond brick retaining wall with
a metal fence surrounds the property.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFLCATION:

The nominated property is a city block, a 2.7-acre tract defined by Harvie, Main
and Plum Streets, and Floyd Avenue, The property, surrounded Ly the brick retaining

wall of 1896, is the same tract of land acquired by the Little Sisters after they moved
tv Richmond in 1877.

8. STATEMENT OF STGNIFICANCE

In 1876, at the time of the sisters’ arrival in Richmond, the city was in need of
hospitals. During the Civil War temporary hospitals were established all over the city
ir every available dwelling, store, facteory and warehouse. The Chimborazo hospital
center was organized in 1862 and disbanded at the end of the war. The old almshouse was
the ouly place that offered facilities for the care of the sick. The arrival of the
Little Sisters filled a great void in the city's health care program. The demand grew and
forced the enlargement of the facilities, with the convent pavilion and chapel representing
the largest additioms. WNot only did the addition of the mansard roof in 1896 increase
the usable space, but it also contributed to the building's Secoud Fmpire feeling. Popular
on the inmstitutional buildings of the North, the Second Fmpire Style is rare on Southern
Reconstruction period structures.

VDS /RCC
Notes:

1. Dukie Pearce, Richmond News Leader, June 29, 1969.

9. MAJOR BITBLTOCRAPHICAL REFERENCES

Rehert Winthrop, "Little Sisters of the Poor," u.d.
Welton, Carolyn, "140 Year 0ld Home Loses Little Sisters of rthe Poor'". Richmond News
Leader, August 24, 1972, p. 23,
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